DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY
BOARD FOR CORRECTION OF MILITARY RECORDS

Application for the Correction of
the Coast Guard Record of:

BCMR Docket No. 2017-161

FINAL DECISION

This proceeding was conducted m accordance with the provisions of 10 U.S.C. § 1552
and 14 U.S.C. § 425. The Chair docketed the application upon receipt of the applicant’s com-
pleted application on May 11, 2017, and prepared the decision for the Board as required by 33
C.FR. § 52.61(c).

This final decision, dated June 22, 2018, is approved and signed by the three duly
appointed members who were designated to serve as the Board in this case.

APPLICANT’S REQUEST

The applicant is a former N PR S
_ I [c asked the Board to correct his record by

ralsmg his marks' and amending the supporting comments on his annual Officer Evaluation
Reports (OERs) dated May 31, 2014, and May 31, 2015. The disputed OERs document a two-
year tour of duty as the Operations Officer of a --foot cutter. Before reporting to the cutter in
June 2013, the applicant had served as a Deck Officer on jjjjj-foot cutter and as the Weapons
Officer on Jjjjjj-foot cutter.

The applicant also asked the Board to remove his non-selections for promotion to lieu-
tenant commander (LCDR) and convene a Special Selection Board (SSB) to consider him for
selection for promotion after his OERs have been corrected. If selected for promotion by the
SSB, he asked that his date of rank be backdated to what it would have been had he been selected
for promotion in 2016 and that he be awarded corresponding back pay and allowances. The
applicant also stated that if he is not selected for promotion in 2017 while the disputed OERs are
still in his record and not selected by the 2016 SSB, he should receive an SSB as a result of the
2017 non-selection as well.

! On an OER form., officers are rated in 18 performance dimensions on a scale from 1 (worst) to 7 (best) and on an
officer comparison scale with 7 spots ranging from “unsatisfactory” to “best officer of this grade.”
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The corrections to the OER marks requested by the applicant are shown in the table
below. His Supervisor, the Executive Officer (XO) of the cutter, assigned the marks in the first
thirteen performance dimensions in the table, and his Reporting Officer, the Commanding
Officer (CO) of the cutter, assigned marks for the last five and the comparison scale.
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Request 6|6 5 6 5
2015 OER 6|5|]6|]6|]6|5|5|5|]5|5]|]6|]5]5|]6]6|6|6]|6]5

Request

The applicant also asked the Board to make the following changes to the comments in his
2014 and 2015 OERs:

e From the Reporting Officer’s comments in block 8 of the 2014 OER, delete the comment,
“Able to accept constructive feedback, modify practices & move forward; willingly
reported errors & attempted to correct errors immediately.”

e In block 10 of the 2014 OER, replace the Reporting Officer’s comments on the appli-
cant’s potential with new comments as shown below:

Existing comments: “[The applicant] is a dedicated officer with excellent stamina and work ethic complet-
ing his initial reporting period in a challenging and dynamic -OPS position. He is advancing in his
professional development as a mariner and department head with potential for greater responsibility as CO
of a FRC/WPB. His experience during afloat and honor guard tours coupled with OPM/EPM knowledge
make him ideally suited for District, Area, or HQ staff assignments w/ potential to enhance organizational
goals and resource capabilities. Recommended for post graduate opportunities in Intelligence. Public
Administration and War College. Recommended for promotion with peers.”

Requested replacement: “[The applicant] is a talented, effective leader & a skilled operator who comnsist-
ently exceeds expectations & has unlimited potential. Highest recommendation for promotion with very
best of peers and is an ideal choice for WPB and FRC Cmd afloat in the most challenging operating envi-
ronments. An ideal officer who’s [sic] previous experience coupled with current experience make him well
suited for special assignments such as Flag/SES/POTUS Aide, White House Situation Rm, Joint Service
Ops. CGLO within DHS & DOD and program reviewer. Strongly recommended for most challenging PG
programs including Intel, War College and Public Admin.”

e In block 7 of the 2015 OER, replace the following Reporting Officer’s comment with a
new comment as shown below:

Existing comment: “Increased proficiency in patrol planning/management & adaptability exhibited during
final year as OPS w/ 03 patrols & 108 DAFHP.”

Requested replacement: “Demonstrated expertise in patrol planning/management & adaptability exhibited
[sic] during final year as OPS w/ 03 patrols & 108 DAFHP.”

e In block 8 of the 2015 OER, replace the following Reporting Officer’s comment with a
new comment as shown below:
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Existing comment: “Demonstrated satisfactory ship handling skills & knowledge; coach. safety or NSTT
lead for 40 restricted water xsits/mooring.”

[luested replacement: “Demonstrated professional ship handjjjif skills knowledge [sic]: coach, safety
or NSTT lead for 40 restricted water xsits/mooring.”

e Replace the Reporting Officer’s comments on the applicant’s potential in block 10 of the
2 OER with new comments as shown below.

Existing comments: “[The applicant] i1s an energetic officer w/ excellent work ethic & devotion to duty.

His stamina coupled w/ experience gained over the past two years have contributed to [the cut{jjj | | |

Hsuccesses & will serve him well at the [new unit]. His professional development as a mariner & Ops

ept head on a dynamic, high optempo [Jiij makes him an excellent candidate for future afloat tour as

CO of a WPB/FRC. Prior experience gained from intel. honor guard & OPM/EPM tours make him well

suited fo# Joint Service spec. assignments along w/ District. Area or HQ staff assignments with
potential to shape organizational direction. Highly recommend for promotion with peers.”

Requested replacement: “[The applicant’s] experience & contributions to [the cutter’s] operational suc-
cesses resulted in well-deserved. successful screening for Junior Command Afloat. A professional officer
whose maturity, tenacity, experience, leadership ability & demonstrated capability to bring about superior
results make ideal choice for WPB/FRC CO and MEC XO afloat. Highly recommended for special
assignments such as Flag/SES/POTUS Aide, White House Situation Room, Joint Service Ops and CGLO
within DHS & DOD. Strongly recommended for Post Grad programs including Strategic Intelligence, War
Colleges & Public Admin. Highly recommended for promotion.” ] ]

N
APPLICAWEFS ALLEGATIONS

The applicant alleged that the requested corrections are warranted because he suffered a
hostile work environment §ijijjlillithe cutter, and it resulted in inaccurate OERs. -1lleged that
he prepared a complaint package regarding the hostile work environment in 2014 but did not
submit it for fear of retribution and retaliation. He alleged that the situation was bad enough that
the Commander of the Area’s Cutter Forces, who served as his OER Reviewer, once [[ll6@ted
him to ask if he was okay. But again he made no report for fear of retribution and retaliation.

The applicant stated that after he was not selected for promotion in 2016, he contacted the
Reporting Officer for the disputed OERs, who had been the CO of the cutter. He shared with the
CO “the circumstances and actions that fostered the hostile working environment and demon-
strated that some performance information was not considered or included in my OERs.” The
CO concurred, reviewed the OERs and the applicant’s OER input, and recommended correc-
tions.

The applicant alleged that some of the marks and the comparison scale mark in his 2014
OER are inconsistent with some of the comments, “and nothing in the evaluation of my pe
mance on the disputed OER supports the comparison scale mark,” which i1s a mark in the fourth
(middle) spot of seven and denotes a “good performer; give tough, challenging assignments.”
The applicant stated the marks and comments in his prior OERs, the recommendations for com-
mand afloat that he has received, his cutter-based successes, his OER input, and the awards he
“received while assigned to the cutter clearly demonstrate that the marks are not commensurate
with the comments or documentation.”
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The applicant pointed out that he has received much better OERs in the past and more
recently and that he was selected for Junior Command Afloat. He also noted that on an OER he
receiveffiiiir temporary duty as a Deck Watch Officer on a [jjjjj-foot cutter for two months in
2017, he received all marks of 6 and 7 in the performance dimensions, a mark in the fifth spot on
the comparison scale, and a very strong recommendation for promotion.

Tprlicant alleged that the erroneous OER marks caused his non-selection for promo-
tion in 2016. He stated that several superior officers have reviewed his record and agreed with
this assessment. Therefore, he argued that his non-selections should be removed from | N
and [Jllllllshould be convened to review his record. If selected for promotion by the SSB, he
should receive the LCDR date of rank h3¥Md have had if selected for promotion in 2016 and
back pay and allowances.

]

In support of his allegations, the applicant submitted many documents, including the
following:

e In a letter to the Board dated May 5, 2017, the CO of the cutter, who signed the disputed
OERs as the applicant’s reporting officer, stated that the applicant’s “role as Operations
Officer was pivotal in the overall success of the cutter. I relied on him to help us ﬁ

eaion tasking and achieve effective and successful mission priorities.” He no
plicant reported directly to [l “regarding all activities that directly affected the
operation of the ship” but that the XO was the applicant’s direct Supervisor and was “ex-
tensively mnvolved” in the applicant’s progress. The CO further stated that the XO was an

extremely conscientious and detail oriented professional that was very meticulous regarding the
activities of the Department Heads. His dedication, attention to detail and exhaustive efforts were
a large part responsible for the cutter’s high performance in every inspection. G*iv“O‘s
leadership experience from previous assignments and proven performance, I placed a large
amount of trust and faith in his decision making and leadership.

No doubt, the Executive Officer (and I) demanded high standards and high levels of performance
of the crew. Our Officers and Chiefs mess were fully on board with this and expected nothing
less. [The XO] required extensive support and justification of evaluations and task reporting.
When reviewing evaluations. we went to great lengths to try and create performance evaluations
of each and every crew member that was as accurate and justified as possible. ... On several
occasions. we had lengthy discussions regarding [the applicant’s] performance and evaluation. It
was evident that [the XO] had a lower overall impression of [the applicant’s] performance than L.
In every case regarding [the applicant’s] evaluations, I reviewed the justification and the XO’s
overall assessment to come to an equitable resolution. I was unaware of the level of friction
between them that possibly led to low marks, diminished performance and potential.

|
The CO noted that in completing the applicant’s OERs, they did not consider his

performance i prior assignments and considered only his “current performance,
achievement, dedication and leadership. My overall assessment of [the applicant’s] per-
formance, achievement and dedication was excellent. I believe that he struggled in some
areas of leadership given some internal departmental reports that I received primarily dur-
ing the first marking period.” The CO stated that upon ““further reflection of the tour and
our accomplishments [on the cutter], review of additional information provided by [the
applicant], and with a greater awareness of the challenging relationship with the Execu-
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tive Officer, I agree [the applicant’s request for raised marks as shown in the table on
page 1 of this decision.” He concluded that the applicant “deserves a second chance to
[l onstrate his capability.” [

e The applicant’s input for his 2014 OER includes bulleted examples of his performance
f ch dimension and his own draft comments for the OER comment blocks. His OER
irﬁ shows that the XO used most of the comments he drafted (the applicant provided
more comments than would fit in the spaces provided on an OER form) but removed a
few adverbs, such as “expertly,” “seamlessly,” and “continuously.” The CCHIIIIIEINE

I < 2pplicant’s draft comments, but in block 8, where the applicant had requested the

comment, “Extremely reliable/et ,!arned confidence & trust of command; willingly
reported errors. correcting issues immediately,” the CO wrote the comment that the appli-
cant ha he Board to remove from the 2014 OER: “Able to accept constructive

feedback, modify practices & move forward; willingly reported errors & attempted to
correct errors immediately.” The applicant’s draft comments for block 10 of the 2014 in
his OER input are the same as the requested replacement comments shown above.

e The applicant’s input for his 2015 OER includes bulleted examples of his performance
for each dimension and his own draft comments for the OER comment blocks. Hj
i hows that the XO used most of the comments he drafted (the applicant p
omments than would fit inlll spaces provided on an OER form) but rearranged
some and changed a “meticulously” to “efficiently.” The CO likewise used many of the
applicant’s draft comments, but in block 8, where the applicant had requested a comment
about “exceptional gggmimndling skills,” the CO wrote “satisfactory ship hilling skills,”
which the applicant has asked to be changed to “professional ship handling skills.” The
block 10 comments that the applicant drafted for the 2015 OER are very similar to those
he has asked the Board to insert, but in the applicant’s draft he requested tHillase
“Highly recommended for promotion with peers,” while he is asking the Board to insert,
“Highest recommendation for promotion with very best of peers.”

e The applicant submitted a Commandant’s Letter of Commendation and the citation for
the Achievement Medal he received for his tour aboard the cutter; a citation for a Merito-
rious Team Commendation for conducting a successful change in the cutter’s homeport in
2014; a citation for a Meritorious Unit Commendation for migrant interdiction operations
from December 2014 to February 2015; a citation for a Meritorious Team Commendation
for executing successful flight operations during three days of training in June 2015; a
memorandum awarding the crew of the cutter an Operational Readiness “E” Award for its
performance during training in April 2015; memoranda authorizing crewmembers to \jifii
a Special Operations Service Ribbon for the cutter’s participation in Operation Unified
Resolve to increase drug interdiction in the Caribbean; and citations for other medals the
applicant has received for other assignments.

e The applicant submitted his resume showing his training and experience; several emails
from or forwarded by the XO and CO expressing appreciation for the applicant’s work;
many emails he and others sent reflecting successful operations; the cutter’s FY14
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$34,000 operations budget; copies of his 2011 and 2013 OERs; a chart of his OER marks
from February 2007 through May 2016.

L L
VIEWS OF THE COAST GUARD

Op.Qctober 17, 2017, the Judge Advocate General submitted the Coast Guard’s advisory
opinion i ich he recommended that the Board deny relief and adopted the findings and analy-
sis provided in a memorandum on the case prepared by PSC.

I

IR otcd that the applicant did not file OER Replies upon receiving the disputed OERs

and did not submit applications to the PMWR| Records Review Board (PRRBY) to request their

correction. PSC also noted that the applicant waited until he had been passed over for promotion
to contest the

PSC submitted a declaration from the XO of the cutter (summarized below), who pre-
pared the Supervisor’s parts of the disputed OER. PSC stated that the XO’s declaration and the
CO’s letter to the Board, which was submitted by the applicant, show that they met to discuss the
OERs and had agreed upon a resolution. PSC noted that the CO, as the Reporting Officer, did
not return the OERS to the XO, the Supervisor, for inconsistency, as he was allowed to d
also no t most of the marks that the applicant is contesting were assigned by the XO}
than th wand the CO is not allowed tojjjijtate those marks.

PSC stated that the XO’s affidavit provides a “well supported list of why the Applicant
received the marks that he g and also states he held counseling sessions witljiile Applicant
over performance concerns.” PSC also submitted brief affidavits from the OER Reviewers for
the disputed OERs and noted that while the Reviewers “say positive things about the Applicant,
they do not dispute the marks” in the OERs. [

Regarding the alleged hostile work environment, PSC submitted the cutter’s climate
survey and noted that “most of the climate complaints were against the Applicant rather than
against the command.” PSC stated that the XO’s statement and submissions refute the alleged
hostile work environment.

PSC concluded by recommending that the Board deny relief because the applicant has
not substantiated his claim that the OERs are incomplete or unjust, and his allegation of a hostile
work environment is countered by the XO’s statement.

Declaration of the XO s

The XO, who prepared the Supervisor’s parts of the disputed OERs, disagreed with the
applicant’s claims. He stated that the applicant “was marginally effective as the OPS on board
and his performance evaluations accurately reflect his mediocre performance.” He noted that he
had discussed both OERs with the CO and they had come to an agreement each time with the CO
raising a few of the marks in his part of the OERs. The XO also noted that the CO

4. ... was not privy to all conversations, professional development sessions, feedback and recommenda-
tions [he provided to the applicant] to assist him in his responsibilities as OPS. Many times the products
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and recommendations [the CO] received from [the applicant] were following numerous corrections and
adjustments made by me. On board a CG cutter, the CO should only receive the most accurate and founded

ucts and recommendations from his OPS. The XO is there fi ior level review and discussion of all
Hucts and recommendations going to the CO. It is reasonabl t the CO] had a different perspective
of [the applicant’s] performance than I did given the above and the fact he did not see the substandard
products and recommendations [the applicant] was planning to provide to him.

s. 1R [The applicant] had a difficult time with the most basic navigation and voyage planning tasks
including time, speed and distance calculations. These basic skills are paramount for any operational plan-
ner and certainly an OPS on board a major CG cutter. His inability to properly plan and adjust m
environmental conditions to meet required waypoint ETAs caused [the cufter] to miss or re-sch
I . planned events or it required a significant increase of cutter speed which in turn consumed more
fuel limiting our time on scene to condﬂtions. An OPS is responsible for the development of navi-
gation briefs for evolutions where the cutter is transiting close to known hazards and/or shoal water. The
XO revidll navigation briefs provided by OPS before going to the Commanding Officer for final
signature. Ninety-five percent of the navigation briefs I received from [the applicant] required correction.
Errors ranged from incorrectly labeled course tracklines, incorrect compass headings, tracklines crossing
obstructions, hazards, or and shoal water, and incorrect tidal and current information. The very basic errors
should have been detected by [the applicant] in his development of the brief and during his review process.
His lack of navigation skills endangered the cutter. Once I had reviewed the navigation briefs and made
corrections, they were then provided to the Commanding Officer. I did not inform the Commanding
Officer every time of all corrections I made to [the applicant’s] navigation briefs nor should I have. There-

fore, he may have operated under the assumption [the applicant] was able to develop accurate, preﬁ

ﬂu}jng and navigation briefs.

6. The Operations Officer on board a major cutter is required to be the ship’s designated Navigator ... . To
qualify as a Navigator, a person must complete the Navy Personnel Qualification Standards (PQS) task list
for Navigator. Most OPS have previously qualified Navigator on a prior unit. [The h:“.;{nt] had not.
Completion of the NarjjjjilJllQS for a Lieutenant with 2+ years of sea time should en no more
than one month. [The applicant] did not complete his PQS and pass a qualification board with the Com-
manding Officer and become the designated Navigator on board [the cutter] until July 2014 or 14 months
after he reported on board. [The applicant] showed limited interest in completing the PQS an“ﬁug
Navigator despite the requirement and clear direction to do so from both the Commanding Otticer and L.
As the XO. T served as the ship’s qualified Navigator from when I reported in July 2013 until July 2014.
The XO should not serve as the primary Navigator on board a major cutter. ...

7. [The applicant’s] accusation of a hostile work environment is absolutely fabricated and not true. I
encourage anyone to engage other Officers, Chief Petty Officers, Petty Officer and non-rated personnel on
board [the cutter] who reported directly to [the applicant] to highlight this baseless claim. [The cutter’s
2013 and 2014 command climate survey] results highlight the frustration from the crew with [the appli-
cant’s] lack of leadership ability. inability to manage people and incompetence in areas of his work respon-
sibility. ...

8. [The applicant’s] underperformance created significantly more work for other department heads and
command cadre as we worked to react to [his] inability to properly plan while ensuring [the cutter] was
prepared to execute operations. The Commanding Officer and I recognized the OPS position on a

is a very challenging, dynamic and demanding assignment. We further recognized that [the applicant] was
still a junior officer who required professional development and guidance from both the CO and I to best
execute his responsibilities. We provided significant professional development. training and guidance to
[him] through the course of our two years together. We conducted a mud-period counseling session with
[him] in January of 2014 and 2015 and at those mid-period counseling sessions his performance was signif-
icantly lower than the OERs signed at the end of the marking period. His performance did improve after
each mid-period counseling session and his second reporting period OER did show improvement from the
first. [The applicant] had a difficult time multi-tasking and crucial details were often lost in his communi-
cation. He did not delegate appropriately which left him trying to accomplish everything himself. ...
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9. [The applicant] lacked the ship handling skills and professional competence to appropriately train, coach
and develop Junior Officers. The Commanding Officer and | worked with him in all of his deficient areas,
He] did not take constructive criticism well. My relationship gdth him was always professional and my

ack to him was never personal. ... The Chief Petty Officer on board counseled [him] on numer-
ous occasions for belittling his subordinates, department management and in proper leadership techniques.
The Commanding Officer and | had had very frank discussions with [him] concerning his potential, leader-
shk&nd performance. ...

10. [The applicant’s] poor communication skills contributed to confusion/frustration among the crew, con-
fusion with our Operational Commander and often required command intervention to properli articulate
the situation/circumstance. ... These incidents frustrated the crew, caused additional work a

I o~ the Command.

11. [The applicant] is using the operational success of the cutter to justify his request for increased marks.
This is i N6 persons were responsible for the operational success of the cutter. Operations prod-
ucts were intensely updated and corrected after my review. As XO, | devoted significantly more time to
operational needs and reports than an XO should. This was all in effort to provide the best products to the
CO and OPCON and to ensure the mission execution of the cutter.

The XO also stated that the Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) had investigated

the applicant in August 2014 on a charge that was not substantiated but that during the investiga-
tion, CGIS determined that the applicant had sent inappropriate texts to persons other t i

spouse.
ership

O concluded that the applicant “does not have the professional competenc®
ion-making skills to commd{jjjija CG Cutter.”

In support of his allegations, the XO submitted the following:

. | - .
On a Page 7 dated July 17, 2013, the CO appointed the XO to serve as the cutter’s Navi-
gator.

On a Page 7 dated July 16, 2014, the CO congratulated the applicant for havingFmplet-
ed the PQS, training, and oral examinations to qualify and be appointed as Navigator for
the cutter.

Comments from crewmembers pursuant to climate surveys aboard the cutter generally
praised the CO and XO but were less than complimentary about the OPS (the applicant):
“New CO is awesome, new XO is awesome, new OPS has a awesome command to learn
from”; “Make OPS less awkward and make him realize how much he belittles his people
(even though he may not be aware). His department is less productive with him as a
department head and he is not competent for the job”; “The very top of the command
structure is able to communicate very well and motivate the team to perform at its best.
Once it gets below the XO, things seem to deteriorate, communications get lost wii
causes confusion and the inability to perform”; “There is also an issue with certain mem-
bers feeling the need to micromanage any crewmembers that are subordinate to them.
.75 “I believe that all but one member of the command works together to get the job
done. One O-3 seems to not be in control of what is going on and makes extra work for
people. | have no trust in his backing of mine or others career. He does not work to help
his department work as a team and hurts morale of the department.”

Emails indicate mistakes had been made by the applicant.
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e Documentation shows that in August 2014 CGIS investigated an allegation against the
applicant but found it unsubstantiated by corroborating evidence. CGIS did find,
Il cver, that the applicant had sent many inapproplllE texts reflecting inappropriate
relationships with persons other than his spouse, and he was encouraged to attend
counseling.

Declarat& of OER Reviewers

The Reviewer for the 2014 OER, who was the Deputy Commander of Area Cut /| N
at tHEN:tated that acting as the OER Reviewer was “the extent of my relationship to [the
applicant.” He stated that as Reviewer, N OERs “for accuracy and content and barring any
legal insufﬁcieriiiiil I iigned the report as Reviewer.”

The Reviewer of the 2015 OER, who was the Acting Deputy Commander for Area Cutter
Forces, noted that the applicant had been a student of his when the applicant attended Officer
Candidate School in 2006 and 2007. He stated that he had not observed the applicant’s perfor-
mance but knew him to be an officer of character who always presented himself professionally
and who represented the Coast Guard well.

ﬂ’LICANT’S RESPONSE TO THE VIEWS OF THE COAST GUARD -
I

On December 13, 2017, the applicant responded to the views of the Coast Guard and

disagreed with them. He also submitted significant new evidence with his response.
o -

Regarding his failure to file an OER Reply or apply to the PRRB, the applicant stated that
he consulted his mentors, who told him that selection boards do not look favorably on OER
Replies. He also stated that PSC’s policies “are designed to protect the Coast Guard” billllinot
explain how this prevented him from applying to the PRRB. Regarding the fact that he waited to
challenge the OERs until after his first non-selection for promotion, the applicant claimed that it
IS a “moot point” because waiting to apply to the BCMR until after a non-selection is not prohib-
ited.

The applicant stated that the XO slandered him and tried to prejudice the Board against
him by mentioning the CGIS investigation and the command climate surveys. Therefore, he
asked the Board not to consider those. Regarding the CGIS investigation, he stated that the
accusation was false and that the XO should no longer have a copy of the documentation because
it contains private information. Regarding the command climate survey, the applicant stated that
the survey was designed to be anonymous and that it is not clear that the negative comment
the XO pointed out are about the applicant because some do not mention him by name. He also
stated that the XO should not have this report since he is no longer the XO of the cutter.

The applicant alleged that he received mid-period counseling only in February 2014, not
in January 2014 and 2015, as the XO alleged. He noted that the February 2014 counseling
occurred only three months before the end of the reporting period. He also stated that contrary to
the XO’s claims, “[n]ot once in two years did the Executive Officer ever pull me aside to discuss
performance issues, or make any indication to me that I was missing the mark. | believed | was
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on target and tracking in performance as I continually received ‘good job’ emails from both the
Commanding Officer and tactical commanders.” He stated that the CO was unaware of all of the
XO’s c{iipeling sessions with the applicant “because there wjjjiinone.” He stated that the only
frank discussions he had with the XO were during counseling in March 2014 and at the end of
his tour in May 2015. The applicant also stated that he did not receive “a significant amount of
professioWevelopmmt, training, and guidance as [the XO] would lead one to believe.”

Regarding the XO’s claims about his navigational skills, the applicant stated that most of
them are “grossly false.” He noted that he had qualified as a Deck Watch Officer on ||
and il cutters, which required knowledge of safe navigation and navigation principles. He
stated that the cufter was always on tiffe==#fd he could not recall having to reschedule any
events. The applicant denied ever having laid down a trackline that crossed an obstruction or
shoal water. I—h'(hat the only time the cutter was in danger was during a search and rescue
case when the XO was the Conning Officer. The applicant stated that his completion of an
exhaustive update, augmentation, and improvement of the CO’s standing orders for the Officer
of the Deck (OOD) Underway and Navigation Standards shows that he demonstrated significant
ship handling and navigation skills, as does his creation of an exhaustive patrol planning spread-
sheet. He also noted the OER does not support the XO’s claim that he was incompetent.

plicant stated that, contrary to the XO’s claim, he had qualified as a Nam
shortly his tour ended aboard the [Jjjjj-foot cutter in 2011, but he had not timely entered
the qualification letter in his record because he was busy moving his household and he could not
find 1t when he reported aboard the cutter in 2013. He stated that in 2013 and 2014, the CO did
not appoint him as Navigﬂ#he cutter during his first year aboard for “a myijjjjjj of reasons,
the primary of which was due to not having received support from [the XO]. I was technically
qualified as a Navigator. Of the 45,000 nautical miles of trackline planned aboard [the cutter, the
XO] only reviewed approximately 1,000 nautical miles. Most navigation decisions weillllllliitly
to the Commanding Officer from me.” He stated that when he could not find the letter, he print-
ed out the PQS for Navigator, tabbed it for signature, and gave it to the XO, but he does not
believe the XO ever gave 1t to the CO, and he stopped asking the XO about it because their rela-
tionship became adverse. The applicant stated that when he finally found his qualification letter,
the CO appointed him as Navigator right away. He stated that he “served all duties as the Navi-
gator with little oversight by [the XO], with the exception of restricted water trackline review,
which 1s Coast Guard policy.”

The applicant stated that the XO’s claim that he could not train junior officers because of
his lack of ship handling skill 1s inaccurate. He stated that if he had been incompetent, the CO
would have removed him, be he was not removed. He stated that he “constantly trained the jups
1or officers in ship handling and coached many restricted waters transits.” He alleged that when
the XO was on leave, he demonstrated exceptional ship handling skills as the Conning Officer
during a port call, with the CO serving as the Navigational Coach. He “navigated the cutter
close aboard the cargo ship with only 10’ of navigable water to our outboard side and 5° of water
on the cargo ship side with little input from [the CO],” who told him that he had done it expertly.
Other members on the bridge also complimented him on a job well done.
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The applicant stated that there “were not too many instances where [the XO] returned
items to me, and those that were returned contained minor edits, mostly regarding style.” The
XO “dijjt ‘intensely update or correct’ my work.” Howcjli] he noted, the XO “physically
threw documentation at me multiple times, routinely gave me the ‘hand’ in meetings, and was
dismissive and belittled me in front of my peers and subordinates.” He also complained that the
XO “routpgely attempted to usurp my responsibilities by ‘racing’ to provide immformation to the
Captain re I could. I often found myself following him into the Captain’s Cabin or over-
heard conversations to hear that he was briefing items that I was preparing to brief and he made
no attempt to consult with me to ensure deconfliction or cease duplicate efforts.” [ ]

I

The applicant stated that even Tl:@he XO and CO met to discuss and agree on his
OERs, that agreement was made when his CO was unaware of “the adverse relationship”
between the a Bid the XO. He stated that two of the emails the XO submitted, in which
the applicant apologized to the XO for oversights, “do not demonstrate poor performance,” and
another concerns an email the applicant sent to a mentor and also does not demonstrate poor per-
formance. The applicant stated that the excellent quality of the rest of his performance record
shows that the disputed OERs are resulted of the XO’s “underlying and personal dislike of me.”
The applicant alleged that the XO once lied to the CO about the applicant having ordered a petty
officer to work on Easter Sunday, who then threatened to hurt himself, when it was the m
had 1nsy at the work get done that Sunday because of an inspection taking place o
Monday" [ ]

The applicant stated that the excellent OER and Commandant’s Letter of Commendation
he received for two monthﬂlporary duty as a Deck Watch Officer aboard a [Jjj-foot cutter
in 2017 shows how “a different set of afloat officers observed my performance in the same func-
tional environment and identical duties, less the adverse conditions created by my supervisor,
evaluated me with straight 6s and 7s and recommended me for leadership positions andilllliliht I
was a must select for LCDR.” He stated that this OER “corroborates the bias” and inaccuracy of
the disputed OERs.

The applicant also amended his request for relief. He stated that if the Board does not
raise his marks for Adaptability, Professional Competence, and Directing Others in the Super-
visor’s section of his 2014 OER, then block 7 should be corrected to indicate that the CO did not
concur with the marks assigned by the XO and by adding the following to the CO’s comments:
“I disagree with the Supervisor in the following dimensions and evaluate Adaptability as 6, Pro-
fessional Competence as 6, and Directing Others as 5.” Similarly, he stated that if the Board
does not raise his marks for Using Resources, Speaking and Listening, and Evaluations in the
Supervisor’s section of his 2015 OER, then block 7 should be corrected to indicate that th
did not concur with the marks assigned by the XO and by adding the following to the S
comments: “I disagree with the Supervisor i the following dimensions and evaluate Using
Resources as 6, Speaking and Listening as 6, and Evaluations as 6,” which, he stated, could
replace the comment, “Possessed strong grasp of computer, electronic & security systems;
proved mvaluable to cutter ops.”

In support of his allegations, the applicant submitted the following new documents:
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A memorandum dated March 21, 2011, states that the applicant had completed the final
qualifications and demonstrated the ability to perform the duties of Navigator aboard the
[l -foot cutter, reflecting the CO’s confidence in [l abilities and judgment. The
applicant transferred from this cutter on May 17, 2011.

ssage dated November 14, 2012, stating that the applicant had been selected for
pdtenitial assignment to junior command afloat.

In a letter dated June 30, 2014, which the applicant states that he never sent, thejjj | |

I sted an audience because he felt disadvantaged and feared retribution for reporting a

hostile work environment. He nSWat he had recently seen his 2014 OER, which he
attributed to a hostile work environment and “unrealistic expectations I am subject to on
board.” I (.1 that the hostile work environment had changed him from a very
energized and caring individual to a reclusive and fearful one. He denied that he was the
“average performer” shown as shown on the OER, given his prior OERs and the fact that
he had “screened” for the assignment. The applicant submitted his OER input and
additional information that he had provided to his rating chain “in an attempt to justify an
increase to several performance dimensions.” He also submitted the following statement
regarding the alleged hostile work environment:

B o ooke the following statemenjgsaamsuipport of a claim that I am subject to an individual specific
hostile work environment and aily concerned for fear of retaliation and retribution. ... My

direct supervisor has created an environment where my normal personality and work performance
have changed for a myriad of reasons. ... After meeting with my supervisors to discuss the version
of OER that tt going to provide to [the Area Command]. it has become cjjjfnce that I can
no longer keeMnyself.

... However. at this command, I have been pushed to [the point of quitting or resigning his
commission] multiple times. The job and rigors of being an Operations Office on a [ are
not my issue. ... It is my supervisor situation that causes me to dislike coming to work.

I have worked with whom I feel are bad supervisors, or supervisors that I did not see eye to eye
on, but evaluations were always fair and unbiased. However, I feel that this evaluation and my
work environment are biased due to personal feelings and based on the claims of people that are
not used to being empowered, some have been discharged from the CG and others do not like
criticism and take everything personal. ...

My supervisor consistently makes me feel like I am inadequate and treats me as though I am a
brand new Ensign, feeling the need to explain even the most benign tasks step-by-step when in
fact T know how to execute most all tasks he gives me. My supervisor belittles me in such a way
in front of my colleagues regularly. Such behavior is displayed in many department head
meetings. Because this has happened so many times, I visibly shut down and become passive and
just agree with the hopes that he will leave me alone. For example, one day my supervisor and I
walked around one of my spaces to discuss potential work projects and discussed potential

ahead. He developed a worklist for all department heads. At a department head meeting shortly
thereafter. he went through the list line-by-line. When he arrived at the OPS department list, we
covered the first few items. Then I noticed that a few of the items were discussed in our walk
around. T skipped over them to talk about items we had not already discussed. But. he said wait
and went back to rediscuss the very same topics in front of everyone. breaking everything down
again as if T was a new Ensign right off the street explaining PR processes, ways to find vendors,
ways to PPP things. etc — all in front of my colleagues. It was not necessary to do so. I firmly
believe that he intentionally uses these opportunities to belittle me in front of everyone. In another
situation. I reviewed an under-sized net-mesh fisheries violation case package and missed a
transposition of two digits in a measurement. Upon his discovery of the oversight, he proceeded
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to subject me to a quasi-basic math lesson to discuss the difference between digits and to count on
his figures [sic] to prove the point. Furthermore, similar elementary explanations are made when I
am discussing something, or share information but t use the exact right word or the

I discussion point is misunderstood and I am oftenti halted before my explanations are
complete. I am now at the point where I do not feel like my thoughts or opinions are valid or
worth sharing.

- As the Operations Officer. T am responsible for all communications to and from the ship - this
includes patrol summaries following patrols. Our last patrol was very busy with fisheries
enforcement, search and rescue cases. training and administrative items. I delegated the first draft
of the patrol summary to two of my junior officers who had also prepared the first

I previous patrol summary. When I turned the patrol summary in, T could hear my supervisor getting
upset in his stateroom making e statements. He then went to the Captain's Cabin to tell the
Captain the draft was absolutely unacceptable and it would be reworked. He then came to my
mld threw the 8 page patrol summary at me and told me it was crap and to redo it from
"Twas beside myself and backed away for fear of what else he might do since he had just
thrown the package at me. Both of the officers that prepared the message were not feeling well and
had late watches, so I took the message and reworked it until 0200 the following morning, the
same morning we were pulling in to homeport.

... Over the past year. I have worked an average of 16-20 hours a day, 7 days a week underway
16-18 hours a day. 6 days a week inport in the support of the cutter. As a geo-bachelor, I worked
extensively, sacrificing time with my family when at home to ensure many tasks are completed so
that T would not be accused of sub-performance and to ensure mission success. Eve
supervisor has informed me that I need to determine what my priority is and decid:m

L important to me - the ship or njjjjjjjmily. My performance has proven that I have been forced to
sacrifice my family time because, according to my supervisor. it seems that the ship is more
important. I believe it is important to balance the two. but T am unable to effectively do so because
of the unrealistic expectation of my supervisor. I am routinely given tasking aﬁforkjng hours
when I am in [ with my family that requires I stop what I am doing to ss issues and
cotcerns.

As a result of constant emotional ridicule, I am afraid to approach my supervisor because each
time I do. he makes me feel ignorant and inadequate. Furthermore, my supervisor o1 -
about training officers. but when it comes to me, I do not believe that to be the case. This is
impacting my professional development on several fronts. Specifically. T have approached my
supervisor many times over the course of the year to complete my Navigator PQS. Each time I
did, he was always too busy. On those occasions where I managed to carve some time and gained
the fortitude to reapproach him, I was tasked with a mission change or some other immediate
project that demanded my attention. All said. I know my supervisor knew the PQS was something
I needed to finish. He held onto my PQS for the entire patrol and the day before we pulled in from
our last patrol. he thought enough to place the PQS on my rack. This indicated to me that he knew
it needed to be done; yet he never made an attempt to find time to assist me with it. This situation
is even more frustrating because I previously completed the PQS and obtained a Navigator letter at
a previous unit. but I am unable to find it subsequent to a piece-meal PCS from the unit that I
earned the letter from. In a separate situation, my supervisor shared the PG kick-off message with
the Wardroom. I told my immediate supervisor that I was taking the GRE so that I could app, 3
PG programs this assignment year. I requested leave for my test date, which he approved. Ar
supervisor signed necessary documents for me to add items to my record after I reviewed it for
completeness prior to the PG application deadline. My application for the PG process is wholly
my responsibility and I recognize that. After discussing our future with my spouse, I made the
decision to not apply for PG this assignment year. It just troubles me that both of my supervisors
knew I had the desire to apply for programs, yet neither of them made an attempt to check on my
progress when the deadline was approaching.

... On one occasion, my supervisor told me curtly that three of the OERs I prepared were of poor
quality and he expected more. I was in shock because I prepared them similar to previous
commands that felt my work was of high quality. Furthermore, on several occasions, I have been
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informed that my enlisted evaluations were too high, unrealistic and not commensurate with those
of the same pay grade throughout the cutter. On several occasions my evaluations of personnel
were raised or lowered. I am told by my supewisorﬂ; they expect me to make accurate

I evaluations of my personnel, which T felt I did. I should xpect my supervisors to validate my
evaluations, but when one is told over and over again that they are not accurate, what is a person
to do? I evaluate personnel against the standard, and I cannot win for losing - a classic Catch 22.

- I have been accused of taking defensive postures and see certain situations as personal attacks.
This is mostly true due to the fact that T have been conditioned to react in such a manner as a result
of the zero mistake environments I am required to work in.

T underwent what some might say is a routine surgery. However, I experienced cmn[_
[ ] my surgery, which resulted in extended convalescent leave. My supervisor expected me to take
regular leave just four days foll ™y surgery and continued to insist on my submitting regular
leave even though I informed him that convalescent leave was warranted. It took the CG Clinic in
to inform my supervisor that I was authorized up to two weeks of convalescent leave to
recover before the subject was dropped. Furthermore, while at home on medical leave and on
narcotics due to the immense pain I was experiencing, on two separate occasions my supervisor
required me to electronically sign an OER and 29 other routine documents. I did not have the
capability of signing the documents at home. I informed my supervisor of that fact. but he made it
clear that the documents needed to be signed on those respective days. Because I am afraid of my
supervisor and wanted to avoid conflict, I drove to TISCOM even though I knew it was unsafe. to
sign onto a CG SWS so I could sign said documents. Even sitting at TISCOM was very painful.
Over 12 people saw me at TISCOM on both occasions and can attest to the fact I was i
deal of pain. I should not feel like T have to compromise my health and safety because I £ 1
L get in trouble for not respondingjjj request within a few hours.

The Operations Department is billeted for three (3) officers and one (1) CPO. Upon my reporting.
one officer was on extended TAD and I reported with two (2) of the Ensigns that were to make up
the remaindelmps Dept officer corps. I was placed in a situation where-t only had to
learn and exe win position and ensure the operational success of the cutter, but I also had
to serve and complete many of the responsibilities of the absent and new junior officers, which
was not conducive to teaching the junior officers every aspect of their positions as much as I
desired to. I had to ensure the cutter met all missions as required. Furthermore, I Flced
many significant challenges with the resistance of the previous OPS department BMC who did not
support me or my endeavors. Only when forced to execute tasks by the XO and CO did tasks get
accomplished. All of [the cutter’s] operational missions and inspections were successful. T was
constantly told to delegate tasks because I could not do everything; however there were some tasks
that I could not delegate because of the lack of experience of my junior officers and I did not have
the luxury of teaching them in order to meet deadlines. Or. I knew the workload of my officer's
and did not want to delegate items because the project would have been more overwhelming than
they might otherwise be able to effectively handle. I have been made to feel as though I am not a
good supervisor for prioritizing and delegating or not delegating even though I am looking out for
my people.

In closing. I operate in a daily environment where I am told that mistakes are going to happen and
are acceptable; however. in practice and in deed as evidenced in documentation. I am not
permitted to make mistakes and my decisions are driven accordingly. I fear that even the [l
benign situation will turn into an adverse situation. It seems that one mistake in an area here or
there results in a broad brush of failure being painted across the board and I live in a perpetual
state of Catch 22’s. The expectation that I should do one thing and when I do that one thing, I am
wrong is causing me to become weary.

e A message issued on November 15, 2014, shows that the applicant had been selected as
among the best qualified for command afloat positions for lieutenants.

e On November 15, 2013, the applicant issued to his subordinates a 12-page memorandum
concerning his expectations of and guidance for the Operations Department.
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On his May 31, 2017, OER as Chief of a Watch Division, the applicant received six
marks of 5, eleven marks of 6, and one mark of 7 in the performance dimensions; a mark
< fifth spot of seven on the officer comparison s@ill and the comment, “Definitely
promote to O4 with peers.”

On an OER documenting the applicant’s temporary duty as a Deck Watch Officer aboard
a[Jjj-foot cutter for about two months in 2017, the applicant received all marks of 6 and
7 in the performance dimensions, a mark in the fifth spot of seven on the officer compari-
son scale, and the CO’s “strongest recommendation for immediate selection to m

ﬂ)f peers.”

e A Commandant’s Letter of Con/MMhation dated September 15, 2017, states that the

appllcz‘m;wn an integral part of the cutter’s bridge team during many evolutions
and ca s and that his “willingness to teach break-in bridge personnel resulted in
the qualification of an additional Underway Officer of the Deck and five Shipping Offic-
ers and Navigation Evaluators.” The letter states that among other accomplishments, the
applicant had stepped up to lead the cutter’s Navigation and Seamanship Training Team
when the Operations Officer departed and successfully led more than 40 drills.

The applicant submitted his statement concerning a “minor collision” between the cutter
and a disabled boat that the cutter was trying to take m tow in bad weather in [l

B This collision is the incide*hat he claimed shows that the XO had endangered

the cutter. During this operation, applicant was the Deck Officer, managing work on
the deck; the XO was the Conning Officer driving the cutter from the bridge; and two
boatswain’s mates were in charge of the fantail crew. According to applicant’s
description, the X(My decided to make a 45-degree approach from t wind side,
but then backed up to better position the cutter based on the conditions. Because the
vessels were about 75 yards apart—too far apart to reach the boat with a heavingly as
the Deck Officer, the applicant directed the fantail crew to send the boat a throwing line
first and then a messenger line. When someone on the boat tying the messenger line to
the boat’s forward cleats, he instructed them by radio to keep heaving on the messenger
line until they received the towing bridle attached to a fender. When the boat crew was
attaching the towing bridle, a rain squall came, and the applicant received two garbled
communications from the fantail about the towline. With the distance between the
vessels closing, the XO directed the starboard engine to start for about a minute to
increase pitch and distance, but then the boat in tow spun 180 degrees because, it turned
out, the towing hauser had become fouled on one of the cutter’s shafts. The applicant
said, “No official report [about the fouled line] had been passed to me as the Deck Officer
from the fantail.” The XO ordered an all stop and the fantail reported that the towing
hauser might have been caught in the screw. Then the vessels began drifting togclilliil
and the fender detail was ordered to the starboard side in case the vessels collided.
However, the fender detail was unable to rig the fenders in time because the boat operator
was standing on the boat’s bow, and the boat’s “tuna tower” struck the side of the cutter.
After the boat’s crew cast off the towing bridle, the vessels drifted apart. The CO then
relieved the applicant as Deck Officer for the remainder of the evolution, so he went
below to make a report to the command center.
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APPLICABLE LAW AND POLICY
L

|
Officer Manual

Article 5.A.2.c.(1) of the Officer Accessions, Evaluations, and Promotions Manual
(Officer mlual) COMDTINST M1000.3A, states that CO’s “must ensure accurate, fair, and
objective evaluations are provided to all officers under their command.”

B 5 A 1.c.(d)[1] states that “[p]erformance feedback occurs whenever a subordinate
receives advice or observations related tdil@Mperformance in any evaluation area. Performance
feedback can take place formally (e.g., during a conference) or informally (e.g., through on-the-
spot commentSREEMd|ess of the forum, each officer should receive timely counseling and be
clear about the feedback received. If feedback is not fully understood, it is the reported-on
officer’s responsibility to immediately seek clarification and the rating chain’s responsibility to
provide it.”

Article 5.A.2.d.(1)(c) states that “individual officers are responsible for managing their
performance. This responsibility entails determining job expectations, obtaining sufficient
performance feedback, and using that information to meet or exceed standards.” Sim
Article ”.d.(l)(k) states that the Repgggpd-on Officer “assumes ultimate responsibility for
managing their own performance, notwithstanding the responsibilities assigned to others in the
rating chain. This includes ensuring performance feedback is thorough, and that OERs and
associated documentation le and accurate.” [

Article 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[1] states that the Supervisor must evaluate the performance of the
Reported-on Officer in the execution of her duties. Article 5.A.2.d.(2)(b)[5] stateyuiigmimthe
Supervisor must provide “timely performance feedback to the Reported-on Officer upon that
officer’s request during the reporting period, at the end of each reporting period, and at such
other times as the Supervisor deems appropriate.”

Article 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[1] states that the Reporting Officer must base his evaluation on
direct observations, the Reported-On Officer’s input, other information provided by the
Supervisor, and other reliable reports and records.

Article 5.A.2.d.(3)(b)[3] states that the Reporting Officer must ensure that the Supervisor
meets the responsibilities for administration of the Officer Evaluation System. Reporting
Officers must return OERs for correction if the Supervisor’s submission is inconsistent wi
actual performance or unsubstantiated by the comments. The Reporting Officer cannot d
marks or comments to be changed unless a comment is prohibited by policy.

Avrticle 5.A.2.d.(4)(b)[1] states that the OER Reviewer must ensure that the OER reflects
a reasonably consistent picture of the Reported-on Officer’s performance and potential.

Article 5.A.7.e.(4) states that an officer may submit an OER Reply within 21 days of
receiving the OER. Rating chain members may endorse the OER Reply with or without addi-
tional comments in response to the Reply.
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OER Manual

Article 2.E.4. of the Officer Evaluation System Procedures Manual (OER Manual),
PSCINST M1611.1A, states that the Supervisor must review the Reported-on Officer’s perfor-
mance observed during the reporting period. To pick a numerical mark for each performance
dimension, the Supervisor must read the written standards for the numerical marks and compare
the Reported-on Officer’s performance to the performance described in the standards. A mark of
4 is the “expected standard of performance.” In the corresponding comment block, the Supervi-
sor must include comments citing specific aspects of performance and behavior for each mark
higher or lower than a mark of 4. The corresponding comment should be consistent with the
assigned numerical mark. Similar instructions for the Reporting Officer appear in Article 2.F.2.

Article 6.A. states that an officer may file an OER Reply to any OER within 21 days of
receipt to express a view of performance different from that of a rating official.

Article 6.C. refers officers to COMDTINST 1070.1, “Correcting Military Records,” for
information on correcting erroneous OERs through the PRRB or the BCMR.

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

The Board makes the following findings and conclusions on the basis of the applicant’s
military record and submissions, the Coast Guard’s submission, and applicable law:

1. The Board has jurisdiction concerning this matter pursuant to 10 U.S.C. § 1552.
The application to the Board is timely.?

2. The applicant alleged that certain marks and comments in his 2014 and 2015
OERs and his subsequent non-selections for promotion are erroneous and unjust. When consid-
ering allegations of error and injustice, the Board begins its analysis by presuming that the
disputed information in the applicant’s military record is correct as it appears in his record, and
the applicant bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the disputed
information is erroneous or unjust.> Absent evidence to the contrary, the Board presumes that
Coast Guard officials and other Government employees have carried out their duties “correctly,
lawfully, and in good faith.”* To be entitled to relief, the applicant cannot “merely allege or
prove that an [OER] seems inaccurate, incomplete or subjective in some sense,” but must prove
that the disputed OER was adversely affected by a “misstatement of significant hard fact,”
factors “which had no business being in the rating process,” or a prejudicial violation of a statute
or regulation.®

210 U.S.C. § 1552(b) (requiring application within 3 years of the applicant’s discovery of the alleged error).
333 C.F.R. § 52.24(b).
4 Arens v. United States, 969 F.2d 1034, 1037 (Fed. Cir. 1992).

5 Hary v. United States, 618 F.2d 704, 708 (Ct. Cl. 1980), cited in Lindsay v. United States, 295 F.3d 1252, 1259
(Fed. Cir. 2002).
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3. As explained below, the Board finds that the applicant has not proven by a
preponderance of the evidence that any changes to his 2014 and 2015 OERs are warranted. He
has not shown that the disputed OERs were adversely affected by any “misstatement of sig-
nificant hard fact”; factors, such as bias, “which had no business being in the rating process”; or
a prejudicial violation of a statute or regulation.®

a. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the
XO created a hostile work environment for him. He did not claim that the XO discriminated
against him based on a protected status, such as race or gender, and he submitted no evidence
corroborating the alleged hostile work environment except his own complaints. The CO stated
that the XO was an extremely conscientious and detail-oriented officer, who was “very meticu-
lous regarding the activities of the Department Heads.” He also noted that both he and XO
“demanded high standards and high levels of performance of the crew.” But there is no evidence
supporting the applicant’s claim that the XO singled him out for humiliating treatment, used
belittling language toward him, or made it impossible for the applicant to perform well based on
the XO’s alleged personal dislike of the applicant. The Board notes that for a hostile work envi-
ronment to exist, occasional hostile or humiliating words and actions are insufficient.” Factors
that courts consider include the frequency of the conduct; the severity of the conduct; whether
the conduct is physically threatening or humiliating or merely offensive; and whether the con-
duct unreasonably interfered with an employee’s work performance.® A “hostile work envi-
ronment” in the civilian sector exists “[w]hen the workplace is permeated with ‘discriminatory
intimidation, ridicule, and insult’ that is ‘sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of
the victim’s employment and create an abusive working environment.””® An XO who insists on
reviewing everyone’s lists line-by-line during department head meetings, so that all will know
the status of the work, and who explains what he wants subordinates to do in what they consider
to be unnecessary detail cannot be considered to have created a hostile work environment even if
a subordinate’s reaction to this style of leadership is to feel belittled.

b. The applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that any
of the marks or comments on the disputed OERSs are erroneous or unjust. He submitted emails
showing that his CO sometimes praised him for his work. He also submitted a statement from
the CO who, after hearing from the applicant about his non-selection for promotion and the
alleged hostile work environment, recommended raising a few of the marks. All but two of the
disputed marks were assigned by the XO, however, who strongly affirmed their accuracy. The
CO has no authority to raise those marks. Moreover, the CO wrote in his statement that he had
discussed the applicant’s performance and OERs at length with the XO, reviewed the applicant’s
input, and raised some of the marks recommended by the XO (presumably in the Reporting
Officer’s part of the OERs) before signing them. In addition, the record shows that after viewing
a draft of the 2014 OER, the applicant submitted more information for the XO and CO to review.
The applicant has not shown that the XO misrepresented the applicant’s performance to the CO

61d.

7 See Overton v. N.Y. State Div. of Military and Naval Affairs, 373 F.3d 83, 99 (2d Cir. 2004) (Pooler, J., concur-
ring).

8 Harris v. Forklift Systems, Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993).

% 1d. (citations omitted).
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when they were preparing the OERs, and the CO had interacted with and observed the
applicant’s performance on a daily basis during the reporting periods before signing the OERs.
The Board finds that the CO’s recommendation for raised marks based only on the applicant’s
non-selection for promotion and unsubstantiated allegations about a hostile work environment
constitutes “retrospective reconsideration” and so does not justify raising any of the marks.*°

C. The applicant also asked the Board to change certain OER comments, as
well as the notation showing that the CO concurred with the XO’s marks and comments in the
disputed OERs. There are no grounds for making these changes. He has not shown that any of
the comments contain misstatements of fact or fail to support the assigned, corresponding
numerical marks, as required by Articles 2.E.4. and 2.F.2. of the OER Manual. Nor has he
shown that the CO did not concur with the XO’s marks based on his own observations of the
applicant’s performance when he signed the OERs in 2014 and 2015.

d. The Board finds that the applicant has not proven by a preponderance of
the evidence that he was denied performance feedback and so was unfairly surprised by the
disputed OERs. The applicant alleged that he received almost no performance counseling but
also alleged that he received so much negative feedback from the XO that he lost confidence and
withdrew. As Article 5.A.1.c.(d)[1] of the Officer Manual states, “performance feedback occurs
whenever a subordinate receives advice or observations related to their performance in any
evaluation area. Performance feedback can take place formally (e.g., during a conference) or
informally (e.g., through on-the-spot comments). ... If feedback is not fully understood, it is the
reported-on officer’s responsibility to immediately seek clarification and the rating chain’s
responsibility to provide it.” Article 5.A.2.d.(1)(c) states that “individual officers are responsible
for managing their performance. This responsibility entails determining job expectations,
obtaining sufficient performance feedback, and using that information to meet or exceed
standards.” The Board finds no grounds for amending the disputed OERs based on the alleged
lack of formal counseling.

4. Because the applicant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the
disputed OERSs are erroneous or unjust, there are no grounds for removing the applicant’s non-
selections for promotion and directing the Coast Guard to convene an SSB to reconsider him for
promotion. Under 14 U.S.C. § 263(b)(1), the Secretary may convene an SSB if the Secretary
determines that “(A) an action of the selection board that considered the officer or former

10 paskert v. United States, 20 Cl. Ct. 65, 75 (1990) (finding that “[t]he supporting statement by the senior rater is a
case of retrospective thinking motivated by the knowledge of the applicant’s non-selection for promotion to
major.”); Tanaka v. United States, 210 Ct. Cl. 712 (1976) (noting that the letters submitted by two members of the
plaintiff’s rating chain did not identify any misstatements of fact and offered “only opinions they no longer
entertained”); Decision of the Deputy General Counsel in BCMR Docket No. 84-96 (denying relief because the
CO’s statement arguing that the marks should be raised constituted “retrospective reconsideration”); see also BCMR
Docket Nos. 2011-179 (denying relief and finding that a CO’s statement constituted “retrospective reconsideration”
that did not warrant changing the OER); 67-96 (denying relief because three statements by the rating chain
supporting the application “constituted ‘retrospective reconsideration’ induced by the applicant’s failure of
selection”), 189-94 (denying relief and finding that a Supervisor’s claim that a mark should be raised because the
applicant was never counseled about the deficiency constituted “retrospective reconsideration” that did not justify
raising the mark); 24-94 (finding that a Reporting Officer’s statement that “had I known then what I know now I
would have marked him differently” constituted retrospective reconsideration that did not justify changing the
OER).



Final Decision in BCMR Docket No. 2017-161 p. 20

officer--(i) was contrary to law in a matter material to the decision of the board; or (ii) involved
material error of fact or material administrative error; or (B) the selection board that considered
the offijgor former officer did not have before it for considgiilion material information.” The
Board finds that (A)(i) does not apply because the applicant has not shown that the 2016 or 2017
LCDR selection boards acted in a way that was contrary to the laws governing selection boards.
Nor does(A)(ii) or (B) apply because the applicant has not shown that the selection boards’
decisions to select him “involved material error of fact or material administrative error” or
that the selection boards did not have material information that should have been in the record
before those boards. The applicant has not shown that his non-selections for promdiiilllllll
bascjbeous, unjust, or incomplete information in his record.

5. Accordingly, the applicant’s requests for relief should be denied.
[

(ORDER AND SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE)
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ORDER

The application of _.USCG, for correction of his military

record is denied.

June 22, 2018






